
Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21 Minutes.doc   

CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – MARCH 21, 2017 

 
The Richardson City Plan Commission met on March 21, 2017, at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall in the Council 
Chambers, 411 W. Arapaho Road, Richardson, Texas. 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Ron Taylor, Chairman 
  Janet DePuy, Vice Chair 
  Bill Ferrell, Commissioner 
  Marilyn Frederick, Commissioner 
  Tom Maxwell, Commissioner 
  Randy Roland, Commissioner 
  Stephen Springs, Commissioner 
  Ken Southard, Alternate 
  Dorthy McKearin, Alternate 
 
CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Assistant Director – Dev. Svcs. – Planning 
  Amy Mathews, Senior Planner 
  Mohamed Bireima, Planner 
  Gwen Manigold, Administrative Secretary 
 
BRIEFING SESSION 
 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff regarding 
staff reports, agenda items and rezoning initiatives.  No action was taken. 
 
REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 
 
MINUTES 
 
1. Approval of minutes of the regular business meeting of March 7, 2017. 

 
Motion: Commissioner Roland made a motion to approve the minutes as presented; second by 

Commissioner Springs.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the City Plan Commission and 
will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion of these items 
unless desired, in which case any item(s) may be removed from the Consent Agenda for separate 
consideration. 

 
2. Site and Landscape Plans – Asian American Baptist Church:  A request for approval of site 

plan and landscape plan for a 69-space parking expansion on the west side of the church campus.  
The 4.24-acre site is located at 801 W. Campbell Road on the southwest corner of Campbell Road 
and West Shore Drive.   
 
Motion: Commissioner Maxwell made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented; 

second by Commissioner Frederick.  Motion approved 7-0. 
  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  2 

ACTION ITEM 
 

3. Master Sign Plan – CityLine at Renner Road – Transwestern Building:  A request for approval 
of a Master Sign Plan for a five-story, 319,318 square foot office building and a seven-level, 
detached parking garage.  The 6.67 acre site is located at 3400 N. Central Expressway on the 
northeast corner of N. Central Expressway and Renner Road.   
 
Mr. Chavez stated the applicant was requesting approval of a Master Sign Plan (MSP) for the 
Transwestern Building, a 5-story office building currently under construction at the northeast 
corner of Renner Road and N. Central Expressway.  He added that under the approved form based 
code a master sign plan was allowed. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained that a MSP was typically a sign package that did not conform to the sign 
provisions included in the form based code, but would address size, color, type, design and 
promote consistency as well as match the characteristics of the development.  In addition, the MSP 
would be reviewed by staff before coming to the Commission for approval.   
 
In addition, Mr. Chavez noted that the proposed plan would establish uniformity in sign area and 
materials while allowing flexibility for a multi-tenant office building.  He identified the five major 
sign types: 

 

 Wall Sign – Internally Illuminated 
 Building Address Sign – Non-Illuminated 
 Monument Sign – Internally or Externally Illuminated  
 Monument Sign – Externally Illuminated 
 Traffic Related Sign – Non-Illuminated 

 
Mr. Chavez pointed out the MSP included a site plan indicating the location of each sign type and a 
table to identify the maximum sign area, height and quantity.  The plan would also provide the 
approved exterior building façade color palette to ensure the sign finishes complimented the 
approved building materials, as well as providing scaled elevations to illustrate the contexts for 
placement of signs and their specifications. 
 
Mr. Chavez concluded his presentation by advising the Commission of their options for approving, 
denying, or continuing the proposed MSP. 
 
Commissioner Frederick wanted to know how staff would handle a request for a sign that was not 
in keeping with the MSP or building color palette, especially if the request came from a tenant that 
would be leasing the whole building.  
 
Mr. Chavez replied the staff would be focusing more on the cabinet for the sign as opposed to the 
logo color. 
 
Commissioner DePuy asked if there would be signs over individual offices/stores if the building 
was leased to more than one tenant. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  3 

Mr. Chavez said multiple tenants would be limited to sign areas and the square footage listed on 
the MSP. 
 
Commissioner McKearin asked if one tenant could occupy a monument sign leaving no room for 
other tenants. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that was possible, however, the property manager usually negotiates during the 
leasing process which company/companies would be on the monument sign and how much space 
they would occupy. 
 
Commissioner Springs expressed concerns over the Type “A” signs especially if the building was 
occupied by multiple tenants (i.e., 350 square feet x 6 tenants). 
 
Commissioner McKearin noted the Sign Control Board limited signs to 250 square feet per tenant 
and was wondering how that compared to the PD. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that 250 square feet was the maximum size per sign in the PD, but each tenant 
would be allowed one sign per street frontage for a maximum total of 500 square feet.  He added 
that in the City’s Sign Code, the maximum allowable square footage was 200 square feet per 
elevation, but most master sign plans apply to larger buildings with requests for larger signs. 
 
Commissioner DePuy asked if staff could remember what was allowed on the State Farm buildings 
and Mr. Chavez said he would have to research the answer but thought it did exceed 250 square 
feet. 
 
Commissioner Ferrell asked if conditions could be added to the MSP to control the size of the signs 
if the building was leased to multiple tenants versus a single tenant.  
 
Mr. Chavez said the Commission could fashion their motion to state that if the building was leased 
to multiple tenants the sign size would be as listed in the MSP, but if the building was leased to a 
single tenant they would be allowed the square footage listed in the PD.  He added the current 
property manager also managed the State Farm properties and was present to answer any questions. 
 
Chairman Taylor called the applicant forward to answer questions from the Commission. 
 
Ms. Heather Chandler, Babendure Design Group, 8140 Walnut Hill Lane, Suite 950, Dallas, Texas, 
representing the property owner indicated the property owners had an agreement with CityLine that 
the KDC development company would have final approval over the design of the signs, which 
signaled their intent to blend in with the CityLine properties. 
 
In regards to the Type “A” signs, Ms. Chandler stated it was the applicant’s intention to lease to a 
single tenant, but the reality was the building would most likely be leased to multiple tenants, 
therefore, they were asking for the multiple sign locations to present options to future tenants.  She 
added the applicant had developed four other similar properties in Houston and each of those 
buildings had a maximum of four tenants. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  4 

Commissioner Springs asked if the applicant’s intention could be made clearer in the MSP because 
he still had concerns the Commission was being asked to approve up to six (6) very large signs. 
 
Ms. Chandler replied that if the Commission structured their motion to limit the number of signs 
per tenant that would be acceptable to her client. 
 
Commissioner Roland asked if he was correct in assuming there would only be signs in the six 
areas attached to the building and parking garage that were consistent within the border described 
in the MSP.   
 
Ms. Chandler said that was correct with the exception of the Type “C” sign which was the 
monument sign. 
 
Motion: Commissioner Roland made a motion to approve the Master Sign Plan as presented; 

second by Commissioner Frederick.  Motion approved 6-1 with Commissioner Springs 
opposed. 

 
4. Zoning File 17-05 – Richardson High School (continued from March 7, 2017):  Consider and 

take the necessary action on a request for approval for a change in zoning from R-1500M and R-
950M Residential to PD Planned Development for the R-1500M and R-950-M Residential with 
modified development standards.  The requested change in zoning would accommodate additions 
and renovations to Richardson High School located on the north and south sides of Belt Line Road, 
east of Dogwood Drive and Dublin Drive 
 
Mr. Chavez stated the Richardson Independent School District (RISD) was requesting to rezone 
two sites to make improvements to district property on the north side of Belt Line Road (Tract A), 
as well as district property on the south side of Belt Line Road across from the high school (Tract 
B).  The improvements to Tract A would include changes to Richardson High School, but not to 
the Richardson West Junior High School, and improvements to Tract B would include the 
conversion of an existing residential structure to the District’s “Clothes Closet,” additional staff 
parking, and an extension of a masonry screening wall along the tract’s southern boundary line. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained the reason the request was before the Commission was the current zoning 
limited any building to a maximum height of 40 feet/two-stories, but the proposed addition would 
be three-stories with a maximum height of 44 to 50 feet.  He added the proposed improvements 
would include new classroom space and temporary classrooms to house students during 
renovations, a future multi-purpose activity center, and additional parking spaces on the campus as 
well as staff parking on the property south of Belt Line Road.  
 
Mr. Chavez concluded his presentation by reviewing the proposed development standards, the 
options for motions, and stated no correspondence had been received. 
 
Commissioner Maxwell asked staff to explain why the future multi-purpose activity center was 
part of the current proposal and what entitlements were being given. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  5 

Mr. Chavez replied the multi-purpose center was shown on the concept plan to indicate the 
district’s intent to construct an activity/indoor practice center.  He added the proposed development 
standards stated a Special Permit would be required for the center, which meant the district would 
have to come back before the Commission before constructing the center. 
 
Commissioner Roland wanted to confirm the Commission was not being asked to approve a 
Special Permit for an activity center at the current meeting.  He also wanted more information 
regarding the “phased” construction of a masonry wall. 
 
Mr. Chavez confirmed the district would have to come back before the Commission when they 
were ready to construct the activity center to request a Special Permit.   
 
Regarding the masonry wall, Mr. Chavez said the construction on the north side of Belt Line Road 
would be the first work to begin, but once construction started on the property south of Belt Line 
Road, the district would be required to complete the masonry wall. 
 
Commissioner Roland asked if the proposed 44 to 50-foot building would be internal to the site as 
opposed to along the property lines. 
 
Mr. Chavez confirmed the proposed three story building would be internal to the site. 
 
With no further questions for staff, Chairman Taylor reminded the audience the public hearing was 
still open from the March 21, 2017 meeting and called for the applicant to make his presentation. 
 
Mr. John Casey, Glenn Engineering, 105 Decker Court, Suite 910, Irving, Texas, stated he and the 
project architect, as well as members from the school district’s administration office, were present 
to answer any questions. 
 
Commissioner Ferrell asked about the timeframe for demolition and construction of the three story 
building. 
 
Mr. Casey replied the demolition would happen during the summer and construction would begin 
shortly thereafter and continue during the school year with a proposed opening of the new building 
in August of 2018. 
 
Commissioner DePuy asked if the addition of twenty-one classrooms would increase the school’s 
student population or merely accommodate the existing student body. 
 
Mr. Casey said it was his understanding the additional classrooms would alleviate over-crowding 
in classes and the additional 48 parking spaces would accommodate the extra teachers for those 
classrooms.  He added that parking studies had been completed and as part of the PD a pedestrian 
management study would be required. 
 
Commissioner Roland asked if any outreach to the neighborhood had been done by the engineering 
company and/or the district, and, if so, what type of feedback was received. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  6 

Ms. Vandana Nayak, Stantec Architects, 5717 Legacy Drive, Suite 250, Plano, Texas, said they 
had been working closely with the school’s principle, the PTA and held three community meetings.  
She added that in the meeting with the PTA the parents were most concerned about the start date 
and how the construction and traffic would be phased so the learning environment would not be 
interrupted. 
 
Commissioner McKearin asked if the school district was required by state law to notify property 
owners who live within 200 feet of a proposed change similar to what was required of the City. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied he could not answer for the district, but said the City was required by state law 
to notify property owners within 200 feet 10 days prior to the meeting for a change in zoning. 
 
Mr. Nayak said the district was not under the same state law as the city; however, when funds are 
raised by the district it goes through a bond process and that process requires notification.  She 
added that the proposed project would be funded through the 2016 bond election. 
 
With no further comments in favor, Chairman Taylor called for comments in opposition. 
 
Mr. Wallace Williams, 1236 Derby Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated he was not speaking against 
the proposed project, but against the process.  He noted that his property backed up to the school 
and since he did not have children currently in school he was not notified and wanted to know how 
that would be rectified. 
 
Commissioner Roland asked what type of fence or wall Mr. Williams had along the property line 
with the school and did he perceive the proposed changes as an improvement or an impediment.   
 
Mr. Williams replied he had an eight-foot wood fence on his side of the alley with a chain link 
fence on the school’s side.  He also had concerns about the addition of a masonry wall because he 
felt it would shield students who already use the alley to vandalize personal property and fighting 
from view of the school authorities. 
 
Mr. Burton Paris, 1234 Derby Drive, Richardson, Texas, said he was not notified and had concerns 
about a three story building and felt the masonry wall should be taller than 6 feet.  He also thought 
the district should improve the security for their buildings and property on the south side of Belt 
Line Road. 
 
Mr. Robert Murphy, 1228 Ashland Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated that notifying the PTA was 
not notifying the public and had concerns with the parking lot scheduled to be removed because it 
was used during many sporting events.  He wanted to know where the district planned to park those 
cars as well as the cars that would come to the activity center when it was built. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained the parking lot mentioned by Mr. Murphy would not be removed and noted 
that when the activity center was built, they would have to come back before the Commission and 
notices would be sent out. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  7 

Ms. Sandra Hayes, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, RISD, 900 Grinnell Drive, 
Richardson, Texas, stated she had heard the concerns from the neighborhood and would post signs 
in the future around their facilities, similar to those posted by the City, to notify everyone of 
meetings.  She also noted that contact had been made with the local homeowners associations, but 
the district would continue to refine and update their notification process. 
 
With no further comments in favor or opposed, Chairman Taylor closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Roland noted that RISD was ultimately an applicant, just like any other applicant, 
and would have to come before the Commission and City Council for approval on their projects.  
He added that better communication between the district and the neighborhood was a given, and 
reminded the audience of what the Commission was considering under the current proposal. 
 
Commissioner Springs expressed concerns about Item 4A of Exhibit B that stated “Only site and 
landscape plans of the area being disturbed by the new development shall be required.”  He felt 
the requirements of the statement were minimal and did not match the comments made during the 
public hearing. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that staff would look at what the district submits to see how much of the 40-
acres the multi-purpose center would encompass and then require a site plan, landscape plan and 
other items for that site as opposed to a new site plan for the entire site.  He added the City had the 
latitude to ask for traffic impact studies, surveys, building elevations, etc. 
 
Commissioner Maxwell suggested the wording called out by Mr. Springs should be changed to 
read “a submittal package” to avoid any confusion in the future. 
 
Motion: Commissioner DePuy made a motion to recommend approval of Zoning File 17-05 with 

the condition listed on page 7 of the packet; second by Commissioner Roland.   
 

Commissioner Springs stated his packet did not list a special condition on page 7 and 
asked for clarification. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated there was only one special condition and read the following into the 
record:  “Tract “A” shall be zoned PD Planned Development District for the R-1500-M 
Residential District and Tract “B” shall be zoned PD Planned Development District for 
the R-950-M Residential District, and Tract “A” and Tract “B” shall be developed in 
accordance with attached PD Development Regulations attached hereto as Exhibit “B” 
and the Concept Plan attached hereto as Exhibit “C”. 
 
Chairman Taylor asked if the motion needed to be amended or could the Commission 
act on the motion as stated.  Mr. Chavez said the Commission could act on the motion 
as presented. 
 
Commissioner Maxwell asked if the motion changed Item 4A on Exhibit B and Ms. 
DePuy replied that she did not add that item to the motion, but if the Commission felt 
the change was necessary she would be willing to amend her motion. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  8 

Commissioner Maxwell suggested the following verbiage for Item 4A “Only a 
submittal package of the area being disturbed by the new development plan shall be 
required.” 
 
Commissioner Ferrell suggested another possible alteration to Item 4A that would read: 
“the site and landscape portion of the submittal would only have to encompass the area 
disturbed by the new development”. 
 
Commissioner DePuy amended her motion to include Mr. Ferrell’s statement; however, 
Commissioner Roland said he could not second the amended motion, but thought the 
verbiage suggested by Mr. Maxwell would let future staff, Commissions and Councils 
determine what should be in the submittal package minus the word “only”. 
 
Commissioner DePuy amended and restated her motion to recommend approval of 
Zoning File 17-05 with the condition listed on page 7 of the packet, and to change Item 
4A on Exhibit B to read “a submittal package of the area being disturbed by the new 
development plan shall be required”; second by Commissioner Roland. 
 
Motion approved 7-0. 

 
5. Zoning File 17-07 – Sara’s Bakery:  Consider and take necessary action on a request for approval 

of a Special Permit for a Large Scale Retail/Service Store and a Special Development Plan for 
changes to the building façade.  The property is located at 750 S. Sherman Street and is currently 
zoned PD Planned Development Main Street/Central Expressway – Railside Sub-district.   
 
Ms. Mathews stated the newly approved Main Street/Central Expressway Planned Development 
(PD) required a Special Permit for a Large Scale Retail/Service Store, which was defined as a 
single user/tenant over 20,000 square feet in size.  Currently, Sara’s bakery occupied roughly half 
of the existing building and was proposing to utilize the entire building, including the loading dock, 
and that would bring the total square footage to 22,492.   
 
Ms. Mathews reviewed the standards of the PD and the modification requests from the applicant 
including changes to the elevations, new landscaping, the loading dock, and new driveway 
opening.   
 
Regarding the loading dock, Ms. Mathews indicated there had been some concerns expressed by 
the property owner to the north regarding the location and function of the existing loading dock due 
to visible trash and associated truck traffic, but after a meeting between the adjacent property 
owner and representatives from Sara’s Bakery, a suggestion was made to screen the existing 
loading dock and build a second loading dock at the rear of the building for box truck deliveries. 
 
Commissioner Frederick asked if the new landscape island on the north side of the property would 
cause a problem with smaller delivery trucks trying to enter the property. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied the island would be a curbed landscape island and smaller trucks would be able 
to approach and make deliveries from a couple of different directions. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  9 

Commissioner DePuy asked if the proposed future street connecting Central Expressway would go 
through the Sara’s Bakery property.   
 
Mr. Chavez replied the proposed future connecting street would go east from Central Expressway 
through the property and just a little north of Sara’s Bakery.  He added that the property between 
the bakery and the adjacent northern property, where the landscape island would be located, had a 
28-foot mutual access easement and both property owners have expressed the willingness to work 
together towards any future revision of the easement. 
 
With no further questions for staff, Chairman Taylor opened the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Avraham Bayan, representing Sara’s Bakery, 750 S. Sherman Street, Richardson, Texas, asked 
if the loading dock was relocated to the rear of the building would a semi-truck still be able to 
make deliveries to the loading dock on the north side of the business. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied the loading dock on the north side of the building would be restricted to smaller 
box trucks and the new loading dock on the west side of the building would receive semi-trucks. 
 
Mr. Bayan suggested completely enclosing the loading dock on the north side of the building to 
increase the square footage and have all deliveries, both semi-trucks and box trucks, delivered 
through the back of the building and exit through the alley to Spring Valley Boulevard.  He asked 
staff if that would be acceptable to the City. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that although the applicant’s suggestion could be possible, the landscape 
islands south of the building were designed to entice the semi-trucks to exit through the parking lot 
and not down the alley to Spring Valley Boulevard. 
 
Commissioner Springs thought it might be prudent to have the staff and the applicant go back and 
review the concept plan to accommodate the proposed changes. 
 
Mr. Chavez advised the applicant would have to amend their zoning exhibit to show the addition to 
the square footage of the building, and Mr. Bayan asked if the trash compactor could be located 
elsewhere on the property to give more room for the loading dock. 
 
Commissioner Maxwell said he agreed with Mr. Springs and thought there were still quite a few 
design items for the exhibit that had to be worked out.   
 
Chairman Taylor asked if the item was continued would it be necessary to list a certain date. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that as long as the public hearing was continued to a “date certain” the item did 
not have to be re-noticed.   
 
Commissioner Southard pointed out that some of the proposed changes were quite significant and 
might increase the costs and asked the applicant if continuing the item for only two weeks would 
provide enough time to gather all the facts. 

  

APPROVED



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

March 21, 2017 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2017/2017-03-21   CPCMinutes.doc  10 

Mr. Bayan said he would like to meet with the owner of his property, as well as the adjacent 
property owner, to review their options. 
 
Chairman Taylor said he thought it was in the applicant’s best interest for the Commission to 
continue the item to the April 4, 2017 meeting. 
 
Mr. Chavez suggested continuing the item indefinitely to allow time for all parties to meet and 
discuss their options, make adjustments to the concept plan, and then the City would re-advertise 
the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Sam Ramosa, 4233 Crestfield Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated he represented the landlord for 
Sara’s Bakery and said his client would prefer to continue the item to the next meeting on April 4th. 
 
Mr. Chavez pointed out that in order to have the item on the April 4th agenda, the applicant would 
have to have all their paperwork in to the staff by close of business on Monday, March 27th and Mr. 
Bayan said that was acceptable. 
 
Motion: Commissioner Maxwell made a motion to continue the public hearing for Zoning File 

17-07 to April 4, 2017; second by Commissioner Roland.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Taylor adjourned the regular business 
meeting at 9:07 p.m. 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Ron Taylor, Chairman 
City Plan Commission 

APPROVED




